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EDITORIAL FOREWORD

Dr. RaymonD O. FAULKNER has recently celebrated his eightieth birthday, and it is with special
pleasure that we dedicate this volume to him. He has made a distinguished contribution to Egyp-
tology and is happily still pursuing his studies with vigour, having just published the first volume of
his translation of The Ancient Egyptian Coffin Texts (Spells 1-354). Among his many services has
been his editorship of this Journal for a period of ten years. Our opening article is an appreciation
by Professor H. S. Smith, and Mr. Cyril Spaull then contributes a Bibliography.

The season at Saqqdra this year was rather different in character from the normal procedure. We
are indebted to Professor H. S. Smith and Dr. Geoffrey T. Martin for the following brief report.

The Society’s camp was opened at North Saqgéra on December 13, 1973 and closed on March 135, 1974.
The season was devoted to study of the finds made over the past nine seasons in the Sacred Animal Necro-
polis and preparation for their publication. No excavation was undertaken. H. S. Smith, J. D. Ray,and W. J.
Tait worked on demotic letters, literary, magical, and mythological papyri in preparation for two volumes
of texts, while Ray also completed the edition of demotic ostraca for his forthcoming volume “The Archive
of Hor’. Mrs. H. F. Smith completed the programme of papyrus photography which has occupied her for
eight seasons, and also photographed ostraca and other objects. A campaign of cleaning ostraca and pre-
serving them with soluble nylon was set in hand. Professor J. B. Segal worked as a guest of the Society in
the Cairo Museum on Aramaic papyri and ostraca from the site, and has since returned to Cairo to com-
plete this study. Dr. G. T. Martin worked on the final excavation report upon the Southern Dependencies,
which includes those parts of the site upon which he himself directed the excavations in 1971—3. He also
completed the draft manuscript of the publication of the hieroglyphic inscriptions from the site, including
the mastaba of Hetep-ka. Miss C. D. Insley recorded and drew the bronze temple furniture at Saqqara and
in the Cairo Museum, and prepared detailed drawings of the scenes on situlae. Miss A. Millard completed a
corpus of drawings of the types of wrappings found on bird mummies, and prepared for a catalogue of
mummified fauna. Miss J. D. Bourriau prepared a series of analytical corpuses of pottery from the site. All
the work planned for the season was satisfactorily completed. For this successful result the Society’s warm
thanks are once more due to Dr. Gamal Mukhtar, President of the Egyptian Antiquities Organization, and
to his staff, whose courteous help makes the Society’s work at Saqgéra possible. Dr. Sami Farag, Chief
Antiquities Inspector of Saqqira and Memphis gave constant administrative help to the Society. During
the season the Society worked in close co-operation with the authorities of the Cairo Museum, and would
like to record their special thanks to Dr. Henri Riad, Director General, to Dr. ‘Abdul-Qader Selim, Chief
Curator, and to their staff for their constant attention to the expedition’s scientific needs.

At Qasr Ibrim, on the other hand, there was a further season of excavation, directed by Professor
J. Martin Plumley, who reports another highly successful campaign.

During the 1972 Expedition the remains of part of what appeared to be an extensive X-Group city were
discovered. These remains were seen to be built over earlier occupation structures. Close by the Expedition
also found a building which had been originally built as a Napatan temple incorporating New-Kingdom
elements by the Pharaoh Taharqa in the seventh century B.c. The building was later used by the Meroitic
people, then by the X-Group, and finally converted into a Christian church, possibly in the sixth century
A.D. It was decided in the present season to continue the excavation of the areas surrounding the church,
given the title of the Temple Church to distinguish it from the great cathedral and the small ninth-century
church adjacent to it on the south side. The area excavated during 1974 extended from the south side of the
great East Stairway leading up from the Podium as far as the wall of the fortress. The line of the dismantled
Bosnian stable wall served as a convenient boundary on the west and to the east the eastern enclosure wall
of the Bosnian house complex (nos. 289-94) formed the fourth demarcation.

On the Piazza area north of the Temple Church the remains of a Late Christian structure had been
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2 EDITORIAL FOREWORD

left in 1972 for excavation in the present season. In the course of the excavation of this building some re-
markable MSS finds were made. Under the floor of one of the rooms a number of Arabic MSS together
with a few Old Nubian letters were discovered. They had originally been buried in a pot. This, however,
had been broken to pieces during antiquity with the result that all of the MSS, though legible, were in an
extremely fragile condition, falling to pieces very easily at a touch. Near at hand, against one of the walls of
the same room lay a sealed pot. The mud sealing had so successfully prevented the entry of air that when it
was opened the contents were found to be in excellent condition. The pot contained ten leather scrolls
written in Old Nubian and covering the last half of the twelfth century. All except one are in excellent state
of preservation and are clearly legible. The pot also contained twenty-five letters in Old Nubian on paper,
one in Arabic on paper and a paper scroll written in Coptic. This last is a copy of a letter from the King of
Nubia to the Patriarch of Alexandria requesting the appointment of a bishop. These documents are of the
greatest importance for they give new information about the rulers and officials of Dotawo, which was one
of the associated kingdoms of medieval Nubia.

The excavation of the area to the south of the Temple Church revealed that a succession of occupations
had occurred here. The fact that each successive occupation had adapted earlier structures and destroyed
parts of these in the course of new building made the task of disentangling the various periods of building
extremely difficult. Present study of the problem indicates that between the period of the Bosnian occupation
of the area in the sixteenth century and the Early Christian period little if any building took place here. The
Early Christian buildings stand immediately on top of X-Group structures which in their turn are buildings
over those of the Meroites. There is evidence of a prior occupation of this area in the Napatan period when
Taharqa erected a temple in the seventh century B.C.

During the cleaning of the excavated areas of the Meroitic Temple it was noted that an earlier pavement
underlies that of the Meroitic paved floor. This earlier pavement is circular in shape, an almost unknown
form of floor in Nubia. It is possible that it may belong to a building with walls circular in their ground
plan. It is just possible that the building may be Roman work and even to be associated with the brief
occupation of Ibrim by the Prefect of Egypt, Petronius, during his campaign against the Meroites in 23-22
B.C. It is perhaps significant that one of the stones of the pavement bears on its surface an incised letter
which has the form of a Roman capital letter M or N. If further excavation is able to substantiate this possi-
bility of Roman building, the Meroitic temple may be dated to the end of the first century B.c. or the begin-
ning of the first century A.D. At a later date part of the Meroitic pavement was covered with a hard mud
floor. Embedded in the floor were over 100 coins. The earliest dates from the Ptolemaic period and the latest
originate from the early fifth century A.D. At present it is not possible to say why so many coins, almost all
of small value, were deposited in this area. They are in no sense a hoard, since they were so scattered. It is
not impossible that they may have been some kind of offering thrown down by those who came to worship
in the temple.

During the course of the excavations a number of interesting and important finds were made. These
included some very fine pottery especially from the X-Group period. A number of metal objects were
recovered. Most of these are in good condition since the peculiar physical conditions on Ibrim tend towards
the preservation of objects which in most sites decay or are subject to corrosion. Collections of wooden
articles and textiles were also made. In addition to the Old Nubian documents already mentioned many
fragments of writing on papyrus, parchment, paper, wood, and potsherds were found in the course of the
excavation. Languages represented by the fragments are Meroitic, Greek, Coptic, Old Nubian, and Arabic,
and, most surprising, Latin.

The 1974 Season of excavation has demonstrated again the wealth of Qasr Ibrim in archaeological
material of all periods from the Eighteenth Dynasty until the beginning of the nineteenth century when the
fortress was finally abandoned after centuries of almost continuous occupation. It would be difficult to find
another site of comparable interest and importance. Since Qasr Ibrim is the last major Nubian site still
above the level of the lake and consequently the only place in which the answers to some of the still unsolved
problems of the history of this part of the Nile Valley may be found, well-organized expeditions should
continue to work here as often as conditions and funds allow. Certain difficulties in communications and in
provisioning still remain. It is to be hoped that with the development of the lake in the future these diffi-
culties will become less formidable.

The death of the Revd. Professor John Barns on January 23, 1974, was a sad and sudden blow to
Egyptology at Oxford, where he conducted a flourishing school, and also to Egyptological scholarship
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in the widest sense. How unexpected his passing was, is indicated by the fact that he has contributed
a fascinating and learned study to our present number. We publish a tribute to his memory by one
of his pupils, Mr. W. V. Davies, who is at present MacIver Student at The Queen’s College, Oxford.
John Barns also made a valuable contribution to Greek papyrology, and of this Professor Hugh
Lloyd-Jones writes as follows:

John Barns did notable service to Greek papyrology in Oxford. From 1953 to 1965 he was University
Lecturer in the subject; he taught it with the enthusiasm and exactitude that marked all his teaching, and
he published several notable contributions to that branch of scholarship. His handling of both literary
texts and documents in the last two volumes of Antinoopolis Papyri (1960 and 1966) and in Part 31 of the
Oxyrhynchus Papyri was of high quality. In publishing fragments of a new gnomology he threw light on the
whole topic of ancient gnomic anthologies (Classical Quarterly, 44 [1950], 126 ff. and N.s. 1 [1951], 1 ff.); he
made a striking contribution to the discussion of the origins of the Greek romance (Akten 8. Kongress der
Papyrologie, 1956, 29 fI.); and he collaborated with H. Lloyd-Jones in three articles about important frag-
ments of Greek poetry (Journal of Hellenic Studies, 83 [1963] 75 fI.; ibid. 84 [1964], 21 fI.; Studi Italiani di
Filologia Classica, 35 [1965], 205 fI.). He was both an acute and a careful reader, always insisting on the
importance of first making one’s alphabet and willing to take any amount of pains to decipher the most
difficult writing. His vast knowledge of Graeco-Roman Egypt was supported by a very considerable
acquaintance with classical antiquity; perhaps he more than any man was competent to explore the crucial
problem of native influences upon the Ptolemaic kingdom. What we have lost by his early death may be
guessed at from the remarkable inaugural lecture ‘Egyptians and Greeks’, which he delivered late in 1966
but published, with notable additions, only last year.

An accident in Khartoum involving a bicycle and a car resulted in the premature death of Dr.
Bryan Haycock. He was a graduate of the University of Durham, and his former teacher, Dr. M. F.
Laming Macadam, contributes the following appreciation.

The news of the death of Dr. Bryan Haycock at the age of only thirty-six, after a car accident, will come as
a sad shock to many. As a student at Durham Bryan was what was soon to become almost a rare thing, a
pupil who respected his teachers’ learning, accepted the world as it was, and yet managed to become presi-
dent of the Students’ Union. Afterwards through Durham University he went on to take both D.Phil. and
M.Litt. degrees, in that order. At Khartoum, where he worked alternately in the History and Archaeology
departments (whichever most needed his talents at the time), he dedicated himself to helping his pupils,
organizing with them visits to remote archaeological sites, dispensing single-handed courses in surveying
and archaeological technique, and inspiring interest and discussion on all points of Sudanese ancient and
mediaeval history. His pupils respected and indeed loved him, and in return he kept them informed of the
most up-to-date theories and discoveries, contributing much of his own. Not a few members of the Sudanese
Antiquities Service and the University departments must consequently owe something to the teaching of
‘Barayan’. Historically, he had a memory for facts and dates which many thought phenomenal, and although
his active life in a hot climate might have restricted literary output, he was making valuable contributions
to knowledge of the Napatan and Meroitic periods, as his last article to the Journal witnesses (FEA4 58,
225 ff.). Those of us who went sometimes to Khartoum as visiting examiners will be sorry no longer to see
Bryan’s giant figure riding his bicycle on the sandy streets.

The international scene has also witnessed severe losses. Dr. Edward L. B. Terrace, who studied
at Harvard and Oxford, had published many scholarly articles when he held a post at the Museum
of Fine Arts, Boston, and later his Egyptian Paintings of the Middle Kingdom demonstrated the
high quality of his understanding of Egyptian art. As with Bryan Haycock, one regrets the early
termination of so much promise. Professor Hans Bonnet, on the other hand, had reached old age
after a career of rich and substantial contributions to Egyptology. A visit to him in Bonn a few years
ago showed that he had achieved a certain serenity in spite of some troublous experiences; and it
was good to hear his heartfelt expression of gratitude for the constant help of Professor and Frau
Edel. Academic succession does not, unhappily, always produce such warm human solicitude.
Professor Zbynek Zaba, of Prague, was well known for his studies of Egyptian astronomy and for his
edition of the Maxims of Ptahhotep. His was an untimely death, whereas Professor Henry L. F.
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Lutz of the University of California at Berkeley, had reached the age of eighty-seven. Among the
latter’s publications were Egyptian Tomb Steles and Offering Stones (1927) and Egyptian Statues and
Statuettes (1930), both relating to the University of California’s Egyptian Collection. We are re-
minded by Professor L. H. Lesko that Lutz was very proud of his Viticulture and Brewing in the
Ancient Orient (1921), which was written during the Prohibition Era in the United States. Professor
Aladar Dobrovits of Budapest will be remembered for his work on Harpocrates (1937) and for
stimulating studies in journals. Among his varied gifts was his racy charm as a raconteur. We have
lost an outstanding figure in the death of Dr. Jacques Vandier, of the Louvre. His scholarly attain-
ments were matched, as Professor Jean Leclant reminds us, by his ‘exemplaire courage’. We are
grateful to Dr. I. E. S. Edwards for the following brief tribute.

Jacques Vandier succeeded the late Charles Boreux in 1940 as Chief Curator of the Department of
Egyptian Antiquities in the Louvre Museum and held the appointment until his death at the age of sixty-
eight on 15 October 1973. His curatorship was marked by a most imaginative rearrangement of the
Egyptian galleries and by many important additions to the collection, the most outstanding perhaps being
the wall-paintings from the Fifth-Dynasty tomb of Metjetji and the upper part of one of the statues of
Amenophis IV found at Karnak by Henri Chevrier, the latter being a gift from the Egyptian Government in
recognition of the assistance given by France in saving the monuments of Nubia. In spite of his onerous
official duties, Vandier found time to write many books and articles of lasting value on Egyptian history,
archaeology, and religion and to edit a number of important texts. They constitute a remarkable monument
and students of Egyptology will turn to them for trustworthy guidance and information for many years to
come. What his writings cannot show are the personal qualities which endeared him to those who knew him
and also the fortitude with which he endured the physical disabilities from which he suffered throughout
much of his life and particularly the crippling paralysis which afflicted him for his last fifteen years. Even
his courage and determination would, however, have been of little avail if it had not been for the constant
support of his devoted wife, Joé. Their home in Paris was truly a Mecca for Egyptologists, where generous
hospitality and stimulating conversation made every meeting seem much too short. His many contributions
to scholarship were recognized by his election to the French Academy and to a Corresponding Fellowship
of the British Academy.

In June 1974, when these notes are being written, Mr. Cyril A. Aldred retires from his post as
Keeper of Art and Archaeology in the Royal Scottish Museum, Edinburgh. Although his post has
not been connected with Egyptology in a titular sense, he has sedulously built up the Egyptian
collection at Edinburgh and has also made notable contributions to Egyptological scholarship and
literature. We wish him well in his retirement, which begins at a comparatively early age, and look
forward to many other scholarly works by him.



RAYMOND O. FAULKNER

AN APPRECIATION
By H. S. SMITH

AL Egyptologists will join in expressing their hearty congratulations and best wishes
to Dr. Raymond O. Faulkner on his eightieth birthday, which is celebrated in this
number of the Journal, for this modest scholar has based his academic career on the
principle of service to his colleagues and to the general reader. Students of Egyptology
all over the world must bless his name for his succinct and reliable editions and
translations of Egyptian texts, and for that daily companion of their studies, his
Concise Dictionary of Middle Egyptian.! Perhaps no British Egyptologist in this
century other than his great friend and mentor Sir Alan Gardiner has made comparable
contributions to the welfare of the student of the Egyptian language.

After a country childhood in the Isle of Wight, Faulkner entered the Civil Service
in 1912. In the First World War he served in His Majesty’s Forces until he was
invalided out after being severely wounded. He returned to the Civil Service in 1916,
but among his many interests, which included astronomy, philately, riding, and sail-
ing, Egyptology had become a passion. In 1918 he began to study hieroglyphs with
Dr. Margaret Murray, who stimulated his life-long interest in Egyptian religion. But
the turning-point in his career came in 1926 when he was invited by Sir Alan Gardiner
to become his full-time Egyptological assistant. Then began that long and fruitful
association to which Egyptology owes some of the finest works of Gardiner’s middle
career, perhaps the most remarkable of which are The Wilbour Papyrus and Ancient
Egyptian Onomastica. Without Faulkner’s enthusiastic and devoted assistance at every
stage in the production of these works, his meticulous attention to scholarly detail, and
his splendidly consistent autography, these books could hardly have been carried
through in their present form. Faulkner always insists in his conversation on the great
scholarly debt that he owes to Sir Alan, who indeed made his career possible; from him
he received his real training in Egyptian philology, lexicography, and grammar, and
throughout his published work he has always followed all that was best in Gardiner’s
principles. But Gardiner in turn always fully acknowledged how much he had benefited
from Faulkner’s critical acuity and practical assistance, and generously encouraged and
supported his independent Egyptological publications. Few scholarly collaborations
have had a happier history or more valuable results.

Faulkner married in 1937. He left London for Amersham in Buckinghamshire in
1939 and moved to Oxford in 1949. He continued to work for Gardiner until 1954,
when he was appointed to a Lecturership in Egyptian Language at University College,

! Elsewhere in this Journal is a bibliography of Faulkner’s publications compiled by his friend Mr. C. H. S.
Spaull to whom I owe many valuable comments and criticisms.
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London. In 1955 he and his wife moved to Woodbridge in Suffolk. At University
College he gently inducted generations of students, many of whom were more of an
archaeological than a philological bent, into the mysteries of Egyptian syntax. Though
strict in his standards of accuracy, he endeared himself to all his students; for his
patience with their errors and difficulties and his interest in their questions and
suggestions were never-failing. Withal, his classes were conducted with a spontaneity
and humour generated by Faulkner’s own warm kindliness; it was a common ex-
perience for the Edwards Library to be rocked by explosions of laughter emanating
from the tiny windowless cell (known to him as the ‘Rabbit Hutch’) where perforce he
conducted his classes. His experience of the difficulties of students scattered in distant
lodgings with no dictionary to consult other than a single library copy of the Berlin
Werterbuch persuaded him to produce his Concise Dictionary. To do this he cheerfully
postponed his long-projected translations of the Pyramid Texts, the Coffin Texts, and
the Book of the Dead. His academic distinction and his services to scholarship were
recognized by his election as a Fellow of the Society of Antiquaries in 1950: Uni-
versity College London made him a Fellow in 1958, and he was awarded the degree of
D.Lit. by London University in 1960. His life was saddened in the early 1g6os by the
protracted illness and death of his wife, who had been a constant support to him over
the years at Amersham and later at Woodbridge in Suffolk. It is typical of his character,
however, that after her death he settled himself to live alone in an ancient cottage in
Woodbridge, and that the following years have been the most productive of his
scholarly life. Since his retirement from his lecturership in 1967 he has published his
complete translation of the Pyramid Texts, with a supplement of autographed texts
not contained in Sethe’s standard edition; a retranslation of the Book of the Dead
printed for an American Book Society; and the first volume of a two-volume transla-
tion of the Coffin Texts, the completion of which is imminent. Thus for the first time in
the history of Egyptology there will soon be in print a complete annotated translation
of the three major collections of Egyptian funerary texts from the hand of a single
scholar. In addition during this period he has contributed translations to a joint
work on ancient Egyptian literature; he has completed, revised, and published the late
Professor S. R. K. Glanville’s catalogue of Egyptian boat models in the British Museum,
and has contributed to the Cambridge Ancient History and to scientific journals. Few
scholars in any discipline can have achieved so much after reaching three score years
and ten.

Throughout his Egyptological career Faulkner has maintained his outside interests,
as his friend Gardiner always insisted a scholar should; it is only three years since he
last sailed his yacht single-handed on the estuary of the Deben. His varied experience
and practical skills have illuminated much of his Egyptological work; in particular in
his contributions to the history of Egyptian military tactics and of Egyptian shipping
his mastery of technical detail has led to new insights. In his translations, though he
displays much ingenuity, his outstanding quality is his insistence upon selecting the
simplest, most straightforward, and most concrete interpretation compatible with
our knowledge of Egyptian language and Egyptian culture. He would concede that
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the most direct is not always the most correct, but would maintain that in general it is;
and that in dealing with obscure ancient texts concerned with facts and beliefs only
partially known to us, it is proper method to test the most straightforward solution first.
A comparison of his translation of the Pyramid texts with Sethe’s monumental work
shows his scholastic bent best; where Sethe opts for complexity, Faulkner opts for
simplicity, often to advantage. While Faulkner is a stickler for abiding by the ancient
text, and avoids emendation wherever possible, he is no purist; he is willing to conflate
texts or use late versions where he believes that they give better sense or help to eluci-
date the original meaning. In his translations he writes a clear unambiguous English
prose, without biblical, classical, or modern overtones, so that the reader obtains as
unprejudiced a view as possible of the Egyptian original. In accord with Gardiner’s
principle, he never compromises English idiom in order to present a literal rendering
of the Egyptian; but within the limits imposed by this principle, his translations
are in general remarkably faithful to the structure of Egyptian, and are helpful to
students for this reason. He also follows Gardiner’s rule that it is the translator’s
duty not merely to provide a form of words which renders the ancient text, but to
explain in cases of difficulty how he has arrived at it and what he believes it to mean.
Faulkner’s notes always have this interpretative function; he avoids scholia for the
sake of scholia. His works are thus not overburdened with small print, and are therefore
more digestible and more cheaply available to a wider audience. This choice proceeds
from his profound conviction that Egyptian philology can only advance by the con-
stant discipline of re-editing and retranslating ancient texts; and that the more widely
they are read the more ideas will be contributed towards the eventual interpretation.
No one is more aware than Faulkner of the severe difficulties of understanding
ancient Egyptian religious texts; no one has done more to present them in a form which
makes it possible for scholars in a wide variety of disciplines to contribute to their
interpretation.

Members of the Egypt Exploration Society and readers of this Journal owe a special
debt to Faulkner, for it was he who took over its editorship in the difficult days
immediately after the Second World War. For over ten years his scrupulous and
discerning hand maintained the high editorial and scholastic standard set by Griffith,
Gunn, and Gardiner, while he gave encouragement and quiet guidance to many
new contributors. To his careful custodianship the Journal’s present healthy state
is in no small measure due.

In latter years Faulkner’s residence at Woodbridge has meant that he is less widely
known personally than some scholars, more particularly among his younger European
and American colleagues. But his many old friends do not consider a stay in England
complete without a visit to his cottage, where a warm welcome, a glass of dry sherry,
and a lively interest in all Egyptological work are dispensed with a peculiarly English
courtesy and joviality. For it is the warm kindness of his personality, his humour, and
the quality of his friendship that endear Raymond Faulkner to all kinds and conditions
of mankind. All join in wishing him years of health and happiness to pursue those
studies to which his life has been so happily devoted.
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